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Wilton Manors’ earliest 
history begins with the 
archaeological finding that 
for millennia indigenous 
people sought temporary 
refuge in the lands that form 
Richardson Historic Park 
when roving between the 
Atlantic and the Everglades. 

By 1870, Seminole Indians 
had settled on the South 
Fork of the Middle River 
where Starbucks is today on 
Federal Highway.

In 1905 Frank and Ivy 
Stranahan purchased 40 
acres of farmland on the 
South Fork directly across 
the river from the Seminole 
encampment.  Their 
farmland is now the Coral 
Point subdivision.
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In 1893 W. C. Collier, the first white settler, bought 71 acres on the Middle River northeast of today’s 
Wilton Station.   His land became part of a larger farming region called Colohatchee; which included much 
of now Wilton Manors and Oakland Park. 

Popular history has often repeated that Colohatchee means “Collier by the River”.  But, experts in 
Seminole culture and language find that the “Colo” portion more likely refers to some natural feature of 
the river, like the color of  its water or its glistening shells, rather than to Collier.  Also, given that the 
Seminoles had a permanent camp in the area some 20+ years before Collier, it's unlikely they would have 
named the area for his farm—as has often been suggested. 
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In 1903 we find the first published 
reference to an FEC Railway depot 
at Colohatchee in an Official 
Railway Guide. The station was 
located at the now NE 24th Street 
RR crossing. It was a major freight 
depot serving area farmers. In 
1913, for example, some 150 train 
carloads of produce were shipped.

The station was later physically 
moved to Floranada/Oakland Park.

Photo illustration of what the FEC Railway depot at 
Colohatchee MIGHT have looked like ...

The Colohatchee Woman’s Club
(as shown in the Willingham Wilton Manors sales brochure)

The Colohatchee Woman’s Club, 
organized in 1916, was located on 
the site of today’s Pride Center at 
Equality Park.  Their clubhouse also 
served as the primary community 
center and social hub for the entire 
Colohatchee area.
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E. J. Willingham, a successful farmer, 
banker, and manufacturer arrived from 
Georgia in 1923.  His first local land 
development was Lauderdale Beach now on 
A1A, south of Oakland Park Blvd.  In 1925 he 
platted 345 acres west of Dixie Highway and 
south of NE 26th St. as Unit 1 of Wilton 
Manors--“Fort Lauderdale’s Beauty Spot”.  

Willingham’s home was located at today’s 
Richardson’s Park and Nature Preserve.



©Wilton Manors Historical Society Digital Collection

In 1926, Willingham hired noted architect
Francis Abreu to design the entrance to 
Wilton Manors--on Wilton Drive at Dixie 
Highway. That included a field sales 
office, entrance gateway and observation 
tower.

Willingham envisioned an upscale 
residential suburb.  A 1926 hurricane and 
other events brought the depression 
locally well before the rest of the nation; 
ending those plans. He returned to 
Georgia and died in 1928.

Willingham’s sales brochure cover

1929 school field trip to visit the Towers
They were a favorite attraction for both locals and visitors
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In 1928, upon Willingham’s 
death, Willingham’s “right hand 
man”, Perry Mickel, moved his 
family into the Willingham 
house and supervised what 
remained of Willingham’s land 
development business. 

Mickel children on a primitive buckboard in front of the Carriage House ca 1930

Perry Mickel Farm circa 1945

In 1936 Mickel and family built a 
house and tended a dairy and 
farmland west of Andrews 
Avenue at today’s NW 3rd Ave. 
and NW 25th St.   In the 1950s  
Mickel platted part of his 
farmland and built housing on it.
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In 1938 golf course 
builder George 
Richardson purchased 
40 acres, including 
Willingham’s home, and 
the family established 
Broward County’s  third 
golf course.
It is now the site of 
Richardson Historic Park 
and Nature Preserve 
and Manor Grove 
Condominium Complex.
The golf course officially 
closed in 1959.
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In 1946 Alvar Hagen purchased land on either side of Wilton Drive-- from the Middle River to NE 21st Ct. 
on the east and the 2000 block on the west. Shortly after, on the east side, he built a laundromat (now 
Papa Duke’s Deli) and commercial storefronts (where the Tropical Bar and Grille is today). Adjacent was 
the Tropical Driving Range. During the same period he constructed more commercial storefronts covering 
the 2000 block on the west. This was where Hagen’s contractor, Clayton Leaver, had his office. 

Left: Williams Pharmacy, Manors Beauty Salon, Tropical Club.   Right: Helpy-Selfy Laundromat

Just north of the “shopping center” was a golf driving-range at 
the site of today’s City Hall. 

Hagen sells real estate from an office across from the 
Tropical Club.
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By 1946 Wilton Manors' 
area had grown to 350 
residents and needed a 
way to ensure basic 
public services such as 
street maintenance and 
water supply.  

The Wilton Manors Civic 
Association was formed 
in that year to provide a 
quasi-governmental 
structure for the 
citizens.

The Civic Association 
continued to play a 
major role in shaping the 
future of Wilton Manors 
for many years—even 
after incorporation.
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In 1947 the Wilton Manors Civic 
Association petitioned the State to 
incorporate as the Village of Wilton 
Manors—essentially covering the 
portion of today’s Central area south 
of NE 26th St. (excluding Lazy Lake 
and the Richardson Golf Course) and 
a small part of today’s “Westside”.

A Village Council was formed with 
Turner elected as Mayor and Hagen 
as its President.

The Village did not tax real property. 
Most of its revenue came from a 
cigarette sales tax and utility 
franchise fees.  



In 1945 Dave Turner purchased the remaining 283 lots 
from the Willingham estate and began selling to young 
families moving to the area after the war.  

In 1949 he donated property as the site for a  Village 
Hall.  This is the first of other of his properties that he 
donated to benefit  the community. 

The Village Hall was built by Civic Association 
volunteers, and paid-for by various fund-raising 
events; including the famous Village barbeques.
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Turner (left) with Chairman of the Wilton Manors 
Civic Association, Norman  Malcolm, at Village Hall 

groundbreaking)
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In 1951 the Village  
expanded its 
boundaries.  It 
annexed the land 
east of the FEC 
Railway between the 
Forks of the Middle 
River—today’s 
“Eastside”.  

And, in  another 
annexation, added  
most of the land 
between NE 26th St. 
and the N. Fork of 
the Middle River to 
Andrews Ave. --
adding 350 people; 
along with  the 
Highland Estates 
volunteer fire dept. 
and fire truck, 
housed on NE 6th 

Lane.



In 1952, the Village’s first police and 
fire services were established.

Residents formed the Wilton Manors 
Volunteer Fire Department with 42 
members (many of them having 
served on the Highland Estates 
volunteer fire department) and were 
recognized by the Village Council as 
the official fire company for Wilton 
Manors.  

That same year Mayor Perry Mickel
authorized the hiring of the first 
Village Police Chief and Police Officer. 

By 1955, with Wilton Manors now a 
“City” rather than “Village”, the 
department had grown to the seven 
officers shown here. It, and other City 
offices, operated from a storefront at 
2197 Wilton Dr. (now the defunct 
Sushi Rock)—with a tavern next door.
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As the Village of Wilton Manors grew, it led to the 
opening of  Wilton Manors Elementary School in 
1952 with 183 students. Within a year enrollment 
had grown to 310.  At that time, the school faced 
NE 24th Street.

In 1998 a larger school was built along the NE 26th

St. portion of the campus.  Eventually, the old 
school was torn down.

Students watching the school’s first 
television-donated by the Hagen family
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The elementary school celebrated its first May Day on May 1, 1952--complete with a variety of 
activities.  Note that the singers are standing outside a set of awning windows that supplied 
fresh air for classrooms.  The school was not air-conditioned in that era—not even ceiling fans!
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In 1951 Dave Turner, James 
Dean, Bob Roberts, along 
with the Coral Ridge 
Properties (developers of 
Coral Gardens and Coral 
Point), secured the right-of-
way to build a road from Five 
Points eastward to the river.

By the end of 1952 a bridge 
was built that linked Wilton 
Manors with Fort Lauderdale 
at Federal Highway—via 
“Galt Boulevard” (26th

Street).  This kick-started a 
period of major residential 
development on the 
“Eastside”.

As you can see, the bridge 
opening was a major 
celebration …



©Wilton Manors Historical Society Digital Collection

In 1953 Dave Turner and James Dean 
announced plans for developing Manor 
Gates Shopping Center--a 4.5 million-
dollar project ($49 million in today’s 
dollars).  

To be constructed over a 5 to 7-year 
period, there would be 23 stores, a 
movie theatre, bank, and new city hall 
on a 15-acre tract covering both sides 
of NE 26th Street. The anchor point was 
to be a 10-story office building with a 
rooftop restaurant.
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The grand plans for Manor Gates 
Shopping Center never came to 
fruition.  The shopping center never 
grew beyond the single-story “strip-
mall” that opened in 1953, and 
remains essentially the same today.

An A&P supermarket (now Holy 
Mackerel Restaurant) was the 
anchor point of the center. Other 
notable tenants were Williams City 
Drugs, Moore’s Jewelry, and James 
Dean’s Florida Sun Life Insurance 
headquarters.

Although a land deed had been 
accepted and ground broken for the 
new City Hall, the City Council 
ultimately rejected (some say under 
political pressure) Manor Gates/NE 
26th St. as the right location.

The proposed bank was built on the 
north side of the street and not 
part of the shopping center. 
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In 1953, with most of its basic municipal services in place, the Village of Wilton Manors re-
incorporated as a “City” to give it greater legal and financial authority and to prevent its 
takeover by Ft. Lauderdale. At that time, it extended its boundaries to include all the 
property west of Andrews Ave. bounded by the South Fork of Middle River to the 
Seaboard Railroad and by Oakland Park Blvd.



To accommodate the numerous and varied businesses along Wilton Drive and to facilitate the 
movement of traffic in and out of the City, Wilton Drive is expanded from two-lanes to four in 1955.

The May 6, 1955 Ft. Lauderdale News  announces the 
opening of “Beautiful New Four-Lane Wilton Drive

The Five Points intersection after Wilton Drive is widened to four-lanes 
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In 1955 Al Hagen donated land for a public park – now Hagen Park and Community Center.  That same 
year he donated land on which to build a Woman’s Club.   Also, in 1955, Wilton Manors Sports, Inc. 
leased land from Mickel to use as a baseball field.  In 1960, the City acquired it. Today it is Mickel Park.

David French when Mickel Field was under construction

1955 ca  Hagen Park Community Center 1955 ca Wilton Manors Woman’s Club
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By 1956 Wilton Manors had 
some 1500 homes occupied and 
many more under construction. 
The need for City services had 
out-stripped those that could be 
supplied from its primary 
revenue source--a cigarette 
sales tax. 

Residents understood that the 
time had come to raise revenue 
for the City through taxing real 
property. A property tax 
referendum to help fund City 
services passed that year with 
only minor objections.



By 1957 Wilton Manors 
needed a proper city hall to 
govern a municipality 
whose population was 
rapidly growing.  Food Fair, 
a major supermarket 
located on Wilton Drive, 
donated some of its land 
for a new city hall that 
would  also house a fire and 
police station.

The new City Hall was built 
on NE 21st Ct. and remained 
in use until 2010.

The former Village Hall 
became the site of the 
library.
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Wilton Manors City Hall in 1959 at 524 NE 21st Court
Ft. Lauderdale History Center-Gene Hyde Collection
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The 1960 census showed Wilton Manors having a population of 8,257 – almost 10 times larger than 
its 1950 population of 883.

That year, over 80 businesses were in operation on Wilton Drive. It provided an easily navigable, 
coherent and full-service downtown to meet virtually all the needs of the residents--without 
leaving “the Drive”.

In 1964 the last vestige of Willingham’s entrance gateway was torn down to build a gas station.

1960s Wilton Dr. & NE 26th St. 
(now Wells Fargo Bank)

1960s Wilton Dr. & NE 7th Ave. (now Gym 
Sports Bar and The Pub Wilton Manors)

1960s 2010 Wilton Drive (former Siam Cuisine)
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In 1965 a Publix Market opens at Andrews Ave. and 
Oakland Park Blvd--the same year that Andrews Ave and 
Oakland Park Blvd were expanded to four-lanes.
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To accommodate the need for more housing for a growing population, in 1972 and 1973
two major residential developments were announced: Manor Grove Village in 1972 and 
Lunde Towers (now Wilton Towers) in 1973.  

1973 Church of Religious Science Newsletter1972 Ft. Lauderdale Magazine advertisement
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In 1987 Wilton Manors 
began to recognize its status 
as an island surrounded by 
the North and South Forks 
of the Middle River when 
resident Norma Rollinson, a 
graduate of Pratt Art 
Institute, designed a new 
entry sign with the now-
familiar greeting–“Welcome 
to Wilton Manors-The 
Island City”. 

In 1992 the Annual Island 
City Canoe Race is launched 
to celebrate Wilton Manors’ 
birthday.  It was its 45th!
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The 1990 Census reported a 
population decline of about 1,000. The 
City protested, and the figure was 
raised by about 500 people. 
Nevertheless, Wilton Manors had 
fallen on economic hard times and was 
in desperate need of redevelopment. 

Sandra Steen was elected as mayor in 
1990 and to date, has been the only 
woman to hold this office.  She 
focused efforts on beautification and 
code enforcement.

Tony Dee opened Chardees, the first 
gay restaurant on Wilton Drive1.  More 
gay businesses  followed, with Tropics
in 1995, and Georgie’s Alibi in 1997. 

To attract additional upscale venues to 
the Drive, the City Council established 
an Arts and Entertainment District in 
1997.

1Subsequent to original publication of this presentation, 
it has been documented that, while not as well-known, 
"JJs Den" in the early 1980s and "The Palms" in 1986 
were likely the first two gay establishments on Wilton 

Drive--RAU/WMHS 05/2022.
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In 2000, John Fiore was elected mayor 
of Wilton Manors and earned the 
distinction of becoming Broward 
County’s first openly gay public official.

Also, in 2000, the first Stonewall Pride 
Parade and Street Festival was held on 
Wilton Drive in honor of the 1969 
Stonewall Riots.  Today the annual event 
attracts more than  35,000 residents and 
visitors.
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In 2004 Wilton Manors gained national attention when a New York Times article noted its 
revitalization efforts: Four major residential and mixed-use projects were being planned. 

Below left:  In 2006, Wilton Station, a 272-unit condominium complex on NE 26th Street was built on 
the site of Wm. Thies & Sons– a major beer distributing company.

Below right: In 2007, Island City Lofts opened at 2301 Wilton Drive on the former site of Spectrum 
House—a  42-bed drug treatment center that had operated on Wilton Drive for nearly 25 years. 



In 2006, Belle Isle, a mixed- use 
development of 51 Townhomes 
on Wilton Drive, replaced the 
1940’s-era Trailer Haven
“mobile home community”.
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In 2008, the Pride Center at 
Equality Park relocated 
from Ft Lauderdale, buying 
5.6 acres in Wilton Manors 
on the same site as the 
1920s Colohatchee
Woman’s Club.  It became 
one of the largest pride 
centers in the U.S. 

Photo: Eisenthesky Productions

In 2020, the Pride Center 
opened the Residences at 
Equality Park--to provide 
affordable housing for 
senior adults. 



©Wilton Manors Historical Society Digital Collection

Revitalization 
continued when in 
2010, Gables Wilton 
Park, a mixed-use 
residential complex, 
replaced several 
long-time shops 
and a nursery 
fronting Wilton Dr. 
and NE 21st Ct.
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The 2010 census found Wilton Manors as second only to 
Provincetown, Mass. in the proportion (15%) of gay 
couples to the total population. 

In 2010 a new City Hall opened at 2020 Wilton Drive—on 
the land once owned by Food Fair, Wilton Manors’ first 
chain supermarket in 1953.
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Revitalization within the City continued when in 2016 the Metropolitan opened at 1220 NE 24th

Street.  This 4-story luxury apartment complex replaced  Middle River Trailer Park, which had 
been in operation since the 1940s. Prior to that the site would have been the location of the 
Colohatchee FEC Railway depot.
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In 2019, Wilton Drive returned to two lanes in the interest of safety for pedestrians, bicyclists, and 
motorists.  The next phase includes irrigation and landscaping to make the Drive even more attractive.

Wilton Drive looking south at NE 8th Terrace  Photo: roadwaysafety.org
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Thank you for your kind attention during this
Wilton Manors Historical Society Presentation for the 75th Anniversary Celebration

We close with these 1947 lifestyle images which reflect Dave Turner’s statement:
“Wilton Manors is a monument to cooperation among good people …”. 

Community barbeques were held to raise funds for civic projects, including the Village Hall.
Les, Marcia, and baby Tracy Stafford

Homes typical of the era on N.E. 21st Ct.  toward Wilton Dr.
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